RECEIVED

09-22-2016

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2016AP1061-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ROBERT TORRES.

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from an Amended Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Racine County Circuit Court, the Honorable Michael J. Piontek, Presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ERIN K. DEELEY Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1084027

JOHN R. BREFFEILH Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1085119

Office of the State Public Defender 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 deeleye@opd.wi.gov breffeilhj@opd.wi.gov

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did law enforcement violate Robert Torres' right under both United States and Wisconsin Constitutions to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures when they entered his home without a warrant?

Mr. Torres was in his home on the second floor of a duplex when law enforcement entered without a warrant. (42:5; App. 105). Officers were there responding to the downstairs neighbor's report of an underage party and a generalized smell of marijuana. (42:3; App. 103). Mr. Torres moved to suppress any evidence found subsequent to the warrantless entry. (8). The trial court denied Mr. Torres' motion, finding that the community caretaker exception to the warrant requirement justified the entry. (42:10; App. 110).

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

A primary issue in Mr. Torres' case is the applicability of the community caretaker exception to the Fourth Amendment's warrant requirement where law enforcement suspects an unsupervised underage party. The bounds of the community caretaker exception as applied to warrantless home entries in Wisconsin are almost exclusively a product of Wisconsin jurisprudence and therefore is a matter of statewide concern. As such, Mr. Torres requests oral argument. Publication is also appropriate to further clarify the law regarding the community caretaker exception to the Fourth Amendment.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On October 10, 2013, the State filed a criminal complaint charging Robert Torres with five counts of possession of child pornography, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.12(1m), three counts of second degree sexual assault, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(cm), one count of first degree recklessly endangering safety, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 941.30(1), one count of possession of a dangerous weapon by a person under the age of 18, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.60(2)(a), one count possession of Tetrahydrocannabinols (THC), contrary to 961.41(3g)(e), and one count of possession of a controlled substance (MDMA), contrary to Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(b). (1). On October 30, 2013, the State filed an information which included an additional count of sexual exploitation of a child by a person under 18, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.05(1)(b). (2).

The complaint alleged that on September 6, 2013, the downstairs resident of a duplex reported to police that there was an underage party occurring in the upstairs apartment. (1:3). According to the complaint, officers ultimately entered the upstairs unit and discovered N.F., unconscious and partially nude. (1:3-4). N.F. later told officers her last memory was of being on the home's balcony. (1:4). Per the complaint, she was drinking and passed out due to intoxication. (1:4). Officers also located a handgun, marijuana cigarettes, and the co-defendant's cell phone containing videos and photographs depicting the sexual assault of N.F. (1:4-5). (1:4). The complaint further alleged that on September 24, 2013, a search warrant was executed on Mr. Torres' residence and law enforcement found pills testing positive for the drug ecstasy. (1:4).

Mr. Torres filed a motion to suppress any evidence seized as a result of law enforcement's warrantless entry into his home on September 6, 2013. (8). Mr. Torres argued that officers unlawfully entered his unit and unlawfully conducted a protective sweep. ¹ (8:2; 18). Both officers testified at the hearing on the motion to suppress. (40:13, 49).

Suppression Hearing and Trial Court's Ruling

According to Officer Thomas Reigelman and Officer Brinelle Nabors, they were dispatched to 1366 Dean Boulevard for a "narcotics in progress" at approximately 9:17 p.m. on September 6, 2013. (40:13-14, 50). The original dispatch was not based on a concern for anyone's safety. (40:19-20). A two-unit duplex with an upper and a lower unit and shared front porch is located at that address. (10; 40:14-15). The call originated with the resident of the lower unit, K.L. (40:14).

K.L. first met with officers in the duplex's front yard. (40:14). K.L. told officers there was a "15 to 16-year-old male that lived upstairs" whose "mother and [] boyfriend were out of town for several days." (40:14). She claimed to have seen them drinking on the upper porch and was concerned about a smell of marijuana coming into her apartment. (40:14). K.L. told officers she believed that "several juveniles, both male and female, fled from the residence" after hearing her call the landlord to report the situation. (40:15). There is no indication in the record that she attempted to contact the tenant's parents, nor does the record contain an explanation for how she knew they were out of town or that their son was left unattended.

¹ This appeal involves the officers' entry into the home. Mr. Torres does not challenge the protective weep on appeal.

K.L. invited officers inside her apartment to smell the odor of marijuana. (40:14-15). Officer Reigelman could not deduce from the odor how long the smell had been there or whether the people who smoked were still upstairs. (40:21). Officers could not recall if K.L. said what time she came home, when she first smelled the marijuana, or when she saw the alcohol consumption. (40:22). K.L. said she wanted officers to make contact with the supposedly unattended juvenile upstairs. (40:16). She did not express a concern that the people upstairs were armed, dangerous, or in any way violent. (40:39).

Officer Nabor testified that a concern was to "make sure that the well-being of everybody who [was] attending that party [was] okay. Also there's no -- make sure there [was] no underage drinking or drugs going on. To make sure the well-being of whoever [sic] residence [it was], make sure everybody's okay. Community caretaker." (40:50-51). Officer Reigelman testified that "I know teens don't use very good judgment very often so it's kind of a community caretaker issue to check on a juvenile." (40:18).

The doorway to the upper unit had its own doorbell, a screen door, a front door, and Office Nabor testified he was "pretty sure" there were locks. (10; 40:24, 63-64). K.L.'s unit had its own doorway to the left of Mr. Torres' unit. (10; 40:24). The doorways for the two respective apartments had different house numbers. (10). The trial court made a factual finding that the two units had "separate entrances and separate stairways, separate doors." (42:6; App. 106).

Officers heard the upstairs floor "squeak" while they were still inside K.L.'s unit and were concerned "somebody else [would] try running out the front door." (40:16). As officers stepped back onto the shared front porch, "the door to

the upper unit flew open" and a male juvenile later identified as Alejandro Sanchez-Morales² appeared. (40:16, 52). Mr. Sanchez-Morales was still in the doorway; officers "didn't want him to be able to run past[.]" (40:26). Officers could not smell the marijuana outside, nor is there indication in the record that officers could smell the marijuana on Mr. Sanchez-Morales. (40:21, 27-8). Officer Reigelman testified as follows:

> Q: Did you at this point in time suspect this individual had something to do with the marijuana you smelled?

I didn't know. A:

O: Could you smell it on him?

I smelled it in the back hallway. I didn't smell it A:

The back hallway or the front hallway? ³ Q:

A: The hallway going up, the stairs going up.

(40:27). According to Officer Nabors, the downstairs neighbor provided a description of the upstairs tenant and Mr. Sanchez-Morales did not match that description. (40:52-53).

Officer Reigelman testified that he asked Mr. Sanchez-Morales "who he was," and he "[said] something like this is my friend's house, or something like that." (40:26). Officer

 ² Mr. Sanchez-Morales was the co-defendant in this case.
 ³ Even though this portion of Officer Reigelman's testimony interchanges "front" and "back," there is no indication in the record that he was ever inside or near any stairwell other than the front stairwell. It is Mr. Torres' position that Officer Reigelman is referring only to this front stairwell.

Nabors testified that they asked him if he was the owner or renter of the residence and Mr. Sanchez-Moralez said "No, I'll go get him." (40:52). Officer Reigelman indicated that regardless of whether or not Mr. Sanchez-Morales had offered to get the actual resident, it would not have necessarily made a difference – "[w]ell, he could say that, yeah, but we don't – we wouldn't let him automatically – we want[ed] to be with him" because "narcotics [were] involved." (40:27).

Officer Reigelman testified that Mr. Sanchez-Morales led him upstairs. (40: 16, 28). Officer Reigelman also testified that once Mr. Sanchez-Morales told him his friend lived there, he told the juvenile "[w]ell, we need to speak with your friend" and went inside the unit. (40:29). Officer Reigelman acknowledged that his report reflected that he told Mr. Sanchez-Morales to go upstairs and officers followed him inside the unit. (40:30). Officer Nabor testified that once Mr. Sanchez-Morales told officers he would get the resident of the home, officers informed him "we'll follow you upstairs" and Mr. Sanchez-Morales then held the door open for them and did not try to stop them. (40:53). There is no indication that officers asked to speak with an adult or asked if any adults were home before entering the unit.

Officer Reigelman was "about two to three steps behind" Mr. Sanchez-Morales, and Officer Nabors was behind Officer Reigelman. (40:33-34). There was an odor of marijuana in the stairwell. (40:27-28). Once Mr. Sanchez-Morales got to the top landing, "he real quickly shot into the apartment itself." (40:33). Officer Reigelman ordered Mr. Sanchez-Morales to stop and handcuffed him somewhere between the living room and near the dining room. (40:17, 34-35). Officer Reigelman testified that he ordered Mr.

Sanchez-Morales to stop "for fear that evidence may be destroyed." (40:40).

Mr. Sanchez-Morales was "looking, glancing over at" and was "making some gesture to somebody else." (40:34). Officer Reigleman took this to mean that Mr. Sanchez-Morales was warning another person that police were present, which concerned him in terms of officer safety and destruction of evidence. (40: 17). Officer Reigelman handcuffed Mr. Sanchez-Morales. (40:17). Officer Nabors then called for the other person to come out. (40:55). Mr. Torres stuck his head out, disappeared, then came around the corner "after about four or five seconds." (40:55-56). Officer Nabor heard "some wrestling around going on in there" before Mr. Torres came out. (40:68). Mr. Torres was also patted down and handcuffed. (40:38, 56).

Mr. Torres said there were no other people in the residence. (40:56). A protective sweep was done on account of the "heavy" smell of marijuana and to check for other people "for [officer] safety and theirs as well." (40:56; 40:69). Officer Nabor found an unconscious young female, alcohol, and a gun inside the bedroom Mr. Torres exited. (40:56).

The State argued that the entry was justified under three exceptions to the Fourth Amendment's warrant requirement – (1) the emergency doctrine, (2) exigent circumstances, and (3) the community caretaker exception. (18:4, 6). The trial court found that the warrantless entry into Mr. Torres' residence was justified because officers "were engaged in a community caretaker function." (42:10; App. 110). In denying Mr. Torres' motion to suppress, the trial court stated, "I think it's reasonable for the police to assume that they make sure that everyone's okay." (42:7; App. 107). The trial court ruled:

[Officers responded] primarily having a concern about health and safety and when you have contact with the remaining persons who had not fled or may be unconscious in the premises and in the court cases that carved out this exception the court is required to consider the substantial interests the police have in ensuring the well-being and safety of those who might be victims of a crime or suffering from a drug overdose and, you know, they certainly had reason to have that suspicion and it was exigent in terms of the immediacy of it, the number of people that fled.

(42:8-9; App. 108-09). The trial court also found that that the officers did not create any exigent circumstances. (42:6; App. 106).

Mr. Torres pled guilty on January 23, 2015 to one count possession of child pornography, one count second degree sexual assault, one count of first degree recklessly endangering safety, and one count of possession of a dangerous weapon by a person under the age of 18. (19; 20; 21; 22). The remaining counts were dismissed and read in. (27). He received a global sentence of 20 years initial confinement followed by 10 years of extended supervision. (26; 27).⁴

⁴ Prior to filing this appeal, Mr. Torres filed a postconviction motion challenging the assessment of DNA surcharges in his case. (30). His motion was granted and the trial court vacated the DNA surcharges for counts 8, 9, and 10, leaving the DNA surcharge assessed for count 1. (31; 32; App. 113-117). The amended judgment of conviction contains a clerical error that the total DNA surcharge amount owed is \$750.00, whereas the assessment report correctly reflects that there is only a \$250.00 DNA for count 1. (31; 32; App. 113-117). This discrepancy has no bearing on the issues contained in this appeal and undersigned counsel is attempting to rectify the issue directly with the Department of Corrections. If this Court would prefer another amended conviction, Mr. (continued)

ARGUMENT

- I. Police Violated Mr. Torres' Constitutional Right to be Free from Unreasonable Searches When They Entered His Home Without a Warrant.
 - A. Principles of law and standard of review.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, § 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution guarantees citizens the right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures. "[T]he Fourth Amendment has drawn a firm line at the entrance to the house." *Payton v. New York*, 445 U.S. 573, 590 (1980). Warrantless searches and seizures inside a home are "presumptively unreasonable." *Payton*, 445 U.S. at 586. Even one step into a protected space constitutes an entry for purposes of the Fourth Amendment. *State v. Johnson*, 177 Wis. 2d 224, 231-32, 501 N.W.2d 876 (Ct. App. 1993).

Warrantless searches are "per se unreasonable," subject only to "a few carefully delineated exceptions." *State v. Ziedonis*, 2005 WI App 249, ¶ 13, 287 Wis.2d 831, 707 N.W.2d 565 (quoting *State v. Boggess*, 115 Wis.2d 443, 449, 340 N.W.2d 516(1983)). A warrantless entry is a search for purposes of the Fourth Amendment. *State v. Pinkard*, 2010 WI 81, ¶ 30, 327 Wis. 2d 346, 785 N.W.2d 592. The State bears the burden of proving that a warrantless search falls within "one of a few, narrowly drawn exceptions." *State v. Milashoski*, 159 Wis. 2d 99, 111, 464 N.W.2d 21 (Ct. App. 1990), *aff'd*, 163 Wis. 2d 72, 471 N.W.2d 42 (1991).

Torres requests that this Court direct the circuit court to make the requisite changes without further altering the existing deadlines in Mr. Torres' case.

Among such exceptions to the warrant requirement recognized by Wisconsin courts are the community caretaker exception, the emergency exception, and the exigency exception. The community caretaker exception is applied when law enforcement acts as "a community caretaker to protect persons and property." *State v. Pinkard*, 2010 WI 81, ¶ 14. The emergency exception is applied when an entry occurs because a person requires "immediate aid or assistance" for an "actual or threatened injury." *Boggess*, 115 Wis. 2d at 452. The exigent circumstances exception is applied when an arrest is "made in 'hot pursuit,'" there is "a threat to [the] safety of a suspect or others," there is a risk of destruction of evidence, or "a likelihood that [a] suspect will flee." *State v. Kiekhefer*, 212 Wis. 2d 460, 476, 569 N.W.2d 316 (Ct. App. 1997).

This Court applies a two part test when reviewing the denial of a motion to suppress. *State v. Popp*, 2014 WI App 100, ¶ 13, 357 Wis. 2d 696, 855 N.W.2d 471. Trial court findings of fact are upheld unless clearly erroneous and review of the application of constitutional principles to the facts are reviewed de novo. Id.

B. The warrantless entry into Mr. Torres' home did not fall within the scope of the community caretaker exception.

"Officers may exercise two types of functions – law enforcement functions and community caretaker functions." *Pinkard*, 2010 WI 81, ¶ 18. An officer who "discovers a member of the public who is in need of assistance" is acting within a community caretaker capacity. *State v. Kramer*, 2009 WI 14, ¶ 32, 315 Wis.2d 414, 759 N.W.2d 598. Wisconsin courts permit warrantless home entries when officers are acting pursuant to this community caretaker

function. ⁵ *Pinkard*, 2010 WI 81, ¶ 14. A warrantless entry into a home premised on the community caretaker function is "more suspect" than an equivalent vehicle entry. *State v. Ultsch*, 2011 WI App 17, ¶ 12, 331 Wis. 2d 242, 793 N.W.2d 505 (citing *Pinkard*, 2010 WI 81, ¶ 20). In *Cady v. Dombrowski*, the United States Supreme Court stated that the exercise of an officer's community caretaker authority must be "totally divorced from the detection, investigation, or acquisition of evidence relating to the violation of a criminal statute." 413 U.S. 433, 441 (1973).

Wisconsin courts employ a three-part test to determine whether an officer's conduct can be properly considered part of the community caretaker exception to the Fourth Amendment's warrant requirement. *Pinkard*, 2010 WI 81, ¶ 29. Courts evaluate:

- (1) whether a search or seizure within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment has occurred;
- (2) if so, whether the police were exercising a bona fide community caretaker function; and
- (3) if so, whether the public interest outweighs the intrusion upon the privacy of the individual such that the community caretaker function was reasonably exercised within the context of a home.

Id. "Overriding this entire process is the fundamental consideration that any warrantless intrusion must be as limited as is reasonably possible, consistent with the purpose justifying it in the first instance." *State v. Anderson*, 142 Wis. 2d 162, 169, 417 N.W.2d 411 (Ct. App. 1987)(established the

⁵ The United States Supreme Court has not recognized the community caretaker exception as a justification for a warrantless home entry. *Pinkard*, 2010 WI 81, \P 26 n. 8.

aforementioned three-part test), rev'd on other grounds, 155 Wis. 2d 77, 454 N.W.2d 763 (1990).

Application of the three-part test

1. A search occurred.

A warrantless entry is a search for purposes of the Fourth Amendment. *Id.*, ¶ 30. It was uncontested in the trial court that a search occurred – "[t]here is no question that the officer did not have a search warrant at that time. That's not disputed and the question is at the time of that entry whether or not one of the exceptions to the search warrant requirement was present." (42:5; App. 105). The trial court also stated that this first part was "pretty much agreed to or stipulated to." (42:8; App 108). Officer's entry into Mr. Torres' unit was therefore a search for purposes of satisfying the first prong of the three-part community caretaker test.

2. There was no bona fide community caretaker function to justify the warrantless intrusion because police did not have an objectively reasonable basis to believe anyone inside Mr. Torres' residence was in need of assistance.

The second step of the community-caretaker analysis requires this Court to decide whether the officer was engaged in a bona fide community caretaker function in the context of the circumstances "as they existed at the time of the police conduct." *Id.*, ¶ 31. Again, it is a function "totally divorced from the detection, investigation, or acquisition of evidence relating to the violation of a criminal statute." *Cady*, 413 U.S. at 441. Subjective law enforcement concerns are permitted so long the officer "has articulated an objectively reasonable basis under the totality of the circumstances for the

community caretaker function."⁶ *Pinkard*, 2010 WI 81, ¶ 31, citing *Kramer*, 2009 WI 14, ¶ 36.

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