RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 12-02-2016

COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2016AP1061-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ROBERT TORRES,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE RACINE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MICHAEL J. PIONTEK, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

TIFFANY M. WINTER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1065853

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 264-9487 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) wintertm@doj.state.wi.us

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

ARGUMENT

Law enforcement's interaction with citizens, especially in response to a civilian complaint, is inherently fluid. As the situation evolves, the function that law enforcement serves evolves as well. As such, the State will address the reasonableness of the officers' interactions chronologically. But first, there are a few general principles of law that need to be noted.

Upon review of a denial of a motion to suppress, findings of historical fact are upheld unless found to be clearly erroneous. *State v. Sykes*, 2005 WI 48, ¶ 12, 279 Wis. 2d 742, 695 N.W.2d 277. The application of constitutional principles to those facts is reviewed de novo. *Id.*

When a defendant alleges a violation of his Fourth Amendment rights, the court must first determine when his rights were implicated. The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Art. I, § 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect against *unreasonable* searches and seizures. *State v. Pinkard*, 2010 WI 81, ¶ 13, 327 Wis. 2d 346, 785 N.W.2d 592. "A 'search' occurs when an expectation of privacy that society is prepared to consider reasonable is infringed." *United States v. Jacobsen*, 466 U.S. 109, 113 (1984). A warrantless entry of a home is a presumptively unreasonable search. *Payton v. New York*, 445 U.S. 573, 586 (1980); *State v. Richter*, 2000 WI 58, ¶ 28, 235 Wis. 2d 524, 612 N.W.2d 29.

Here, the home in question is the upper apartment of a duplex. Because of the structure of the house, there are two separate entries that need to be evaluated: (1) the entry into the private stairway leading to the upper apartment, and (2) the entry into the upper apartment. The entries must be evaluated separately because ultimately, they are separate searches. If a Fourth Amendment violation occurred during either search, the court still must consider whether evidence should be suppressed. Suppression is not appropriate if there is an absence of any remedial value (deterrence of police misconduct) in applying the exclusionary rule and the important societal goals are furthered by admitting the evidence. State v. Noll, 111 Wis. 2d 587, 590, 331 N.W.2d 599 (Ct. App. 1983). Thus, this Court must balance the remedial objectives of the rule with the substantial costs exacted by the rule. State v. Felix, 2012 WI 36, ¶ 30, 339 Wis. 2d 670, 811 N.W.2d 775 (quotations omitted).

While the warrantless entry of home а is presumptively unreasonable, there are exceptions to that general rule. Two of those exceptions come into play in this case. The first is the "community caretaker" exception. Pinkard, 327 Wis. 2d 346, ¶¶ 20-27. The second is exigent circumstances. State v. Robinson, 2010 WI 80, ¶ 24, 327 Wis. 2d 302, 786 N.W.2d 463.4 As addressed below, the community caretaker exception applies to the entry into the front stairway, and the exigent circumstances exception applies to the entry into the living quarters of the upper apartment.

The two entries are reasonable under two different exceptions to the warrant requirement because the officers' function evolved from the time they were dispatched, to when they made contact with the complainant, and again

⁴ The State argued in the trial court that the emergency doctrine exception to the warrant requirement also applied. The State concedes on appeal that the emergency doctrine is not relevant to the facts of this case.

when Sanchez-Morales darted into Torres' apartment. Because each entry was reasonable, this Court should affirm the trial court's order denying Torres' motion to suppress and affirm the judgment of conviction.⁵

I. The community caretaker exception to the warrant requirement allowed for the warrantless entry into the front stairway.

A police officer exercises a "community caretaker" function when the officer serves to protect persons and property outside of the context of criminal law enforcement. *Pinkard*, 327 Wis. 2d 346, ¶ 18; *State v. Kramer*, 2009 WI 14, ¶ 32, 315 Wis. 2d 414, 759 N.W.2d 598; *In re Kelsey C.R.*, 2001 WI 54, ¶ 34, 243 Wis. 2d 422, 626 N.W.2d 777. In short, an officer exercises a community caretaker function "when the officer discovers a member of the public who is in need of assistance" and takes appropriate action. *Pinkard*, 327 Wis. 2d 346, ¶ 18. A multitude of activities fall within law enforcement's community caretaker *function*, but not every intrusion that results from the exercise of that function will fall within the community caretaker *exception* to the warrant requirement. *Pinkard*, 327 Wis. 2d 346, ¶ 20.

"The community caretaker exception does not require the circumstances to rise to the level of an emergency to qualify as an exception to the Fourth Amendment's warrant requirement." *Pinkard*, 327 Wis. 2d 346, ¶ 26 n.8. Rather, the court applies a three-step test to determine whether an

⁵ While the trial court concluded that the community caretaker exception allowed the officers to enter the stairway and the upper apartment, this Court may affirm on different grounds than those relied on by the trial court. *State v. Earl*, 2009 WI App 99, ¶ 18 n.8, 320 Wis. 2d 639, 770 N.W.2d 755.

officer's conduct falls within the scope of the exception. *Pinkard*, 327 Wis. 2d 346, ¶ 29. When a community caretaker function is asserted as the basis for a home entry, the court must determine:

(1) whether a search . . . within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment has occurred; (2) if so, whether the police were exercising a bona fide community caretaker function; and (3) if so, whether the public interest outweighs the intrusion upon the privacy of the individual such that the community caretaker function was reasonably exercised within the context of a home.

Pinkard, 327 Wis. 2d 346, \P 29 (internal citations and footnotes omitted). The State bears the burden of proof on all three prongs. *Id*.

The State does not dispute that Torres had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the stairway based on *State v. Trecroci*, 2001 WI App 126, 246 Wis. 2d 261, 630 N.W.2d 555.⁶ Thus a search occurred within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment when the officers entered the private front stairway. As for the remaining two prongs of the analysis, the police were exercising a bona fide community caretaker function and the minimal intrusion into the stairway was reasonable under the circumstances.

⁶ The State submits that the *Trecroci* decision too broadly interpreted what a reasonable expectation of privacy is in a stairway to an upper apartment of a multi-family home. The decision is inconsistent with *State v. Edgeberg*, 188 Wis. 2d 339, 524 N.W.2d 911 (Ct. App. 1994), and bestows greater privacy protections to residents of a multi-unit home than those bestowed on residents of a single-family home. Because *Trecroci* is controlling, the State notes this issue to preserve it for review. *See Cook v. Cook*, 208 Wis. 2d 166, 189, 560 N.W.2d 246 (1997) (The court of appeals can't overrule, modify, or withdraw language from a prior published opinion.)

A. The officers were exercising a bona fide community caretaker function when they entered the front stairway.

Unlike in State v. Matalonis, 2016 WI 7, ¶ 35, 366 Wis. 2d 443, 875 N.W.2d 567, it is obvious in hindsight that Torres' home did in fact contain a member of the public in need of assistance. However, this Court must still determine "whether under the circumstances as they existed at the time of the police conduct, the officers were engaged in a bona fide community caretaker function." Id. (quotation and marks omitted). Thus, this Court is "concerned with the extent of the officers' knowledge at the time they conducted the search, not after." Id.

"When evaluating whether a community caretaker function is bona fide, we examine the totality of the circumstances" *Kramer*, 315 Wis. 2d 414, ¶ 30. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has rejected the view that community caretaker functions must be totally divorced from the detection, investigation, or acquisition of evidence relating to the violation of a criminal statute. *Pinkard*, 327 Wis. 2d 346, ¶ 31. And it has cautioned against taking "a too-narrow view" in determining whether a community caretaker function is present. *Pinkard*, 327 Wis. 2d 346, ¶ 33 (citation omitted).

The "community caretaker" function, "while perhaps lacking in some respects the urgency of criminal investigation, is nevertheless an important and essential part of the police role." *Bies v. State*, 76 Wis. 2d 457, 471, 251 N.W.2d 461 (1977). Interpreting bona fide community caretaker functions too narrowly could deter the "assistance role of law enforcement" at the expense of someone who truly needs assistance. *Pinkard*, 327 Wis. 2d 346, ¶ 33. Here, Officer Riegelman and Officer Nabors were dispatched to 1366 Deane Boulevard to a citizen complaint. The complainant, K.L., was the downstairs resident of a duplex. (1:3; 11:2.) She informed the officers that the upper tenant was out of town, but the tenant's minor son was home. (11:2; 40:14.) K.L. told the officers that the minor son was hosting an underage drinking party and some of the minors were smoking marijuana. (11:2; 40:14.)

K.L. told the officers that she smelled a strong odor of marijuana coming from the upper apartment and that she personally observed minors drinking alcohol on the upper porch. (11:2; 40:14.) K.L. invited the officers inside her apartment to smell the odor of marijuana. (11:2-3; 40:14.) Officer Riegelman could smell the odor of burnt marijuana emanating from the upper apartment (1:3; 40:15), which corroborated K.L.'s complaint about marijuana usage.

Contrary to Torres' assertion (Torres' Br. 16), the law permits officers to rely on the information supplied by K.L. "When an average citizen tenders information to the police, the police should be permitted to assume that they are dealing with a credible person in the absence of special circumstances suggesting that such might not be the case." State v. Powers, 2004 WI App 143, ¶ 9, 275 Wis. 2d 456, 685 N.W.2d 869 (quotation and other marks omitted). When a citizen provides identifying information, the citizen risks exposure to perjury or other criminal charges for supplying false information to law enforcement. State v. Rutzinski, 2001 WI 22, ¶ 20, 241 Wis. 2d 729, 623 N.W.2d 516. Thus, information provided by an indentified the citizen complainant bears sufficient indicia of reliability. Id. "[I]f there are strong indicia of the informant's veracity, there need not necessarily be any indicia of the informant's basis of knowledge." Id. ¶ 21.

K.L.'s veracity was high. She gave her name to the police and was interviewed by the officers after she phoned in her complaint. There was no reason for the officers not to believe her. Thus, the officers had reliable information that minors in the upper apartment were involved in drinking and marijuana usage, that the party had since ended, but that Torres was still home. (11:2-3; 40:15-16, 44.)

K.L. asked that the officers try to make contact with Torres, because she was concerned about the second-hand marijuana smoke affecting her minor children. (11:3; 40:15-16.) In other words, K.L. was a citizen in need of assistance. The officers also knew that juveniles do not use good judgment when engaging in underage drinking and drug use. (40:18.) So there was a need to check on the welfare of the juveniles that remained in the upper apartment. (40:18.)

The circumstances giving rise to the community caretaker exception need not rise to the level of an emergency. *Pinkard*, 327 Wis. 2d 346, ¶ 26 n.8. Checking on the welfare of juveniles known to be engaging in underage drinking and drug use is a bona fide community caretaker function. Underage alcohol consumption can lead to serious health risks, and can be a significant contributor to juvenile fatalities. As the Wisconsin Supreme Court has noted:

Alcohol abuse is the leading cause of hospitalization and death of youth (11–25 year olds). Drinking is involved in 55% of all teenage deaths, including 39% of suicides, 40% of "falls," 43% of drownings, 43% of automobile crashes, and 75% of all fatal drug overdoses.... Alcohol *is* Wisconsin's drug problem.... This is reflected in our children, whose pattern of abusive drinking significantly exceeds the national average.

Miller v. Thomack, 210 Wis. 2d 650, 668 n.16, 563 N.W.2d 891, (1997) (citing State of Wisconsin, Department of Justice, Office of Transportation Safety, Report and Recommendations of the Task Force on Underage Violator Programs in Wisconsin, 1 (1995); Legislative Reference Bureau Brief 95–3, The Minimum Drinking Age in Wisconsin (1995) (discussing the history of efforts to control underage drinking and the nature of the problem)).

The fact that the officers were dispatched for "narcotics in progress" does not diminish their community caretaker function or foreclose the officers from exercising it. To hold that officers cannot have an iota of any other intent in addition to their community caretaker function would essentially preclude the community caretaker doctrine from ever applying. It is also not the law. See Pinkard, 327 Wis. 2d 346, ¶ 31. When executing community caretaker functions, law enforcement officers are not forced to put crime-investigating functions out of their minds or ignore potential dangers or crimes that could occur at any time. See make on-the-spot id. We do not force officers to determinations as to which function – community caretaking or law enforcement - is being served in order to determine whether they can proceed with a citizen encounter.

The State agrees that an underage drinking complaint does not give law enforcement *carte blanche* to enter a residence. But that is not the inquiry at this stage in the analysis. The question is whether it is a bona fide community caretaker function to try to make contact with a juvenile known to have engaged in underage drinking and drug use. The answer to that question is yes. To hold otherwise would ignore the warnings against taking too narrow of a view in determining whether a community caretaker function is present. *See Pinkard*, 327 Wis. 2d 346, ¶ 33.

B. The officers reasonably exercised their community caretaker function by entering the front stairway because there is an overwhelming public interest in responding to complaints of underage drinking and drug use and the intrusion suffered by Torres was minimal.

The next step is to determine if the public interest outweighs the intrusion upon the privacy of the individual such that the community caretaker function was reasonably exercised. It is important to keep in mind that the intrusion that the court is concerned with at this point is the intrusion into the private stairway.⁷ In addressing the balancing test in the third step of the community caretaker analysis, whether the public need and interest outweigh the intrusion, courts may consider the following factors:

(1) the degree of the public interest and the exigency of the situation; (2) the attendant circumstances surrounding the [search], including time, location, the degree of overt authority and force displayed; (3) whether an automobile is involved; and (4) the availability, feasibility and effectiveness of

⁷ Torres blurs the two distinct entries in an attempt to paint the police conduct as egregious. (*See generally* Torres' Br.) However, it is undisputed that the stairway and the living quarters of the upper apartment were separated by a solid door. (12.) Thus, by entering the stairway, the officers did not immediately enter the living quarters of the home. As such, it is the entry into the stairway that is the relevant intrusion for the purposes of the community caretaker analysis.

alternatives to the type of intrusion actually accomplished.

Id. at ¶ 42 (citations omitted).⁸

First, there is a high degree of public interest in responding to underage drinking complaints. As noted above, underage drinking has serious risks. If Officer Riegelman and Officer Nabors had responded to the complaint and advised K.L. that they would do nothing, the public would have been disappointed or even outraged at such a cavalier dismissal of a serious complaint.

Next, the attendant circumstances surrounding the entry into the stairway support a finding of reasonableness. The officers were responding to a complaint in the evening hours, which is when alcohol is typically consumed. However, it was not so late that it would be unreasonable to assume that the 15 or 16-year-old Torres would normally still be awake and able to respond to attempts to contact him.

Before the officers had taken any steps to make contact with Torres, Officer Riegelman heard the upper apartment's floor creak. (40:16.) He stepped onto the shared front porch and encountered a male juvenile, Sanchez-Morales, exiting from the stairway of the upper apartment. (11:3; 40:16.)

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